RECEIVED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON CLERK'S OFFICE

Jun 15, 2016, 4:45 pm

RECEIVED ELECTRONICALLY

No. 93261.1

IN THE WASHINGTON STATE SUPREME COURT

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS FOR THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION I

No. 72707-9-I

ROBERT AND JACQUELINE PIEL, Appellants,

٧.

CITY OF FEDERAL WAY, Respondent

PETITION FOR REVIEW

STEPHEN M. HANSEN (WSBA #15642) Law Office of Stephen M. Hansen, P.S. 1821 Dock Street, Suite 103 Tacoma, WA 98402 (253) 302-5955 (253) 301-1147 SCOTT P. NEALEY, pro hac vice Law Office of Scott P. Nealey 71 Stevenson, Suite 400 San Francisco, CA 94015 (415) 231-5311 (415) 231-5313

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Petitioner Robert Piel asks this Court to review the decision of the court of appeals referred to in section B.

II. CITATION TO COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Petitioner seeks review of the court of appeals' decision in *Piel v*. City of Federal Way, COA No. 72707-9-I, filed May 16, 2016 attached as an appendix to this petition.

III. INTRODUCTION

Following remand from this Court in *Piel v. City of Federal Way*, 177 Wn.2d 604, 306 P.3d 879 (2013), Division One, affirmed the Trial Court's grant of partial summary judgment finding that an Arbitrator's ruling in 2007, which reinstated Piel's employment with the Federal Way Police Department, collaterally estopped Piel from litigating facts suggesting "anti-union bias" as to his 2006 termination his 2006 termination. *Piel v. City of Federal Way.*, No. 72707-9-I (Wa.App. May 16, 2016)(Lau, J) at 20-27. (Copy Attached)("*Piel Slip. Op.*"). Yet, the record before the trial court demonstrated that the issue of "anti-union animus" was not material or essential to the outcome of the arbitration, such that the Arbitrator had made no findings as to "anti-union animus." As such the City of Federal Way ("City") was relegated to arguing that the Trial Court should grant summary judgment based upon an "implication" from the Arbitrator's decision. As all "implications" are to

be resolved at summary judgment in favor of the non-moving party,

Folsom v. Burger King, 135 Wn.2d 658, 663, 958 P.2d 301 (1998),

Division One's affirmance of the grant of partial summary judgment

conflicts with established decisions of this Court. Absent correction by
this Court, the Piel decision will be cited as support for collateral

estopple by "implication." Review of this decision is necessary under

RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (b)(4)

In addition, the Court of Appeal's decision created two new evidentiary rules, both of which dramatically undermined Piel's ability to prove his case, created conflicts with decisions of other Courts of Appeal and both of which, absent correction, will impact the public interest as well, requiring review under RAP 13.4(b)(2) and (b)(4).

First, to show his termination was based upon impermissible bias,

Piel sought to introduce evidence of prior disciplinary actions by the City

— including actions which involved the person who fired Piel, Police

Chief Wilson, and his brother, Commander Wilson - which were entirely inconsistent standards and treatment afforded Piel. Admissions from the

City's witnesses showed that the standards in effect were the same as the

¹ The Court of Appeals *Piel* decision, absent correction by this Court, can, and will, be cited by defendants under new GR 14.1, adopted on June 2, 2016, as "non-binding authority" which is "persuasive."

standards in effect during Piel's termination. The Court of Appeals, ignored the admissions and upheld exclusion, reasoning that pervious disciplinary actions were "irrelevant on grounds the proffered actions were factually dissimilar, too remote in time, and involve different decision makers." Piel Slip Op. at 15. The appellate court ruled that exclusion was proper as "Piel's prior discipline evidence involved different investigators and decision makers." *Id.* at 19.

Absent correction by this Court, the novel principle adopted by the Court of Appeals is a roadmap to insulate bias and illegal actions by employers; they can simply change the decision maker so as to prevent later proof of disparate actions.

Second, the court of appeals upheld the exclusion of polygraph evidence offered by Piel, finding that exclusion was appropriate since the "polygraph evidence here offered no direct evidence on a central claim or defense." Slip.Op. at 9. This is in direct conflict with *Subia v. Riveland*, 104 Wn.App. 105 (2001). *Subia* reversed the exclusion of polygraph evidence which, as here, offered to shown pattern and practice and mental state in an employment case, with a limiting instruction. In creating a nebulous rule that polygraphs have to be "direct evidence" and ignoring the roll of limiting instructions, the panel decision creates a

clear conflict in the admissibility of polygraph evidence in civil cases for, as here, uses other than showing veracity.

IV. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Did the trial and appellate courts err is applying collateral estopple where collateral estopple was extended to evidentiary facts not essential to the outcome of the prior determination?
- 2. Did the trial and appellate courts err in holding that evidence of prior inconsistent employment decisions, under a common policy, could be excluded as it involved a "different decision maker"?
- 3. Did the trial and appellate courts err in baring evidence of a polygraph taken by officer Piel to show state of mind and deviation from prior procedure?
- 4. Did the Did the trial and appellate courts further err in allowing the City to claim, and then prove with only hearsay, that Officer Piel had inappropriately submitted "something" to its investigator, requiring his removal, while barring any evidence contrary to this claim?

V. REASONS TO GRANT REVIEW

A. This Court Should Accept Review To Resolve Conflicts Between The Court Of Appeals' Decision And Decisions Of This Court As To The Scope Of Collateral Estopple.

The dismissal of Piel's claim for wrongful termination regarding his 2006 termination on the basis that "identical issues" were considered in the 2007 arbitration was error. In the Arbitration the only issues formally addressed were those agreed to be resolved by both parties:

"Was the Grievant discharged for cause for" ... [as a result of] (1) "The

March 10, 2006-Stop of Firefighter" incident and (2) the ... March 16, 2006-Abuse of Discretion" incident." CP 147. Ex. A.

Under prior decisions, Collateral estoppel is confined to ultimate facts, i.e., facts directly at issue in the first controversy upon which the claim rests, it does not extend to evidentiary facts, i.e., facts which may be in controversy in the first action and are proven but which are merely collateral to the claim asserted. *Beagles v. Seattle-First Nat'l Bank*, 25 Wn. App. 925, 931, 610 P.2d 962, 966 (1980). When collateral estoppel is asserted, the record of the prior action must be before the trial court so that it may determine if the doctrine precludes relitigation of the issue in question. *Id.* at 932.

Under prior decisions of this Court, actual litigation and determination of an issue is not enough. The issue must have been material and essential to the first controversy. The requirement of actual litigation of an essential issue provides some assurance that the issue received the attention of the parties and the judge in the first proceeding, thereby justifying its conclusive effect in the second. This was the standard adopted by this Court in *Seattle-First Nat'l Bank v. Kawachi*, 91 Wn.2d 223, 588 P.2d 725 (1978), where the court quoted from the RESTATEMENT OF JUDGMENTS § 68 (1942), as follows:

(1) Where a question of fact essential to the judgment is actually litigated and determined by a valid and final judgment, the

determination is conclusive between the parties in a subsequent action on a different cause of action

(2) A judgment on one cause of action is not conclusive in a subsequent action on a different cause of action as to questions of fact not actually litigated and determined in the first action.

This Court in *Kawachi* further quoted from § 68 comment p (1948 Supp.) as follows:

Evidentiary facts. The rules stated in this Section are applicable to the determination of facts in issue, i.e., those facts upon whose combined occurrence the law raises the duty or the right in question, but not to the determination of merely evidentiary or mediate facts, even though the determination of the facts in issue is dependent upon the determination of the evidentiary or mediate facts.

91 Wn. 2d at 228.

In this case, the Arbitrator made no factual findings, on way or the other, as to the presence or absence of "anti-union animus" and did not discuss the issue in his decision. The finding by the Arbitrator that cause existed for a demotion from Lieutenant to Patrol Officer (rather than a termination) does not address the issue of whether the termination was wrongful, especially where no cause of action exists in Washington for retaliatory conduct that does not result in termination. Critically, nothing in the Arbitrator's award provided any guidance as to what extent, if any, the issue of "anti-union animus" was even considered, let alone whether it played any part in the outcome of the award. As a result, the record of the prior action (i.e., the Arbitration) was not before

the trial court so that it could determine if the doctrine "precludes relitigation of the issue in question." *Beagles*, 25 Wn.App. at 932. Instead, the trial court granted summary judgment by "implication," which is not the standard in Washington. *Young v. Key Pharmaceuticals*, 112 Wn.2d 216, 225, 770 P.2d 182 (1989).

The Court of Appeals decision upheld this ruling, reasoning that because the arbitrator considered whether "just cause" existed to terminate Piel (notably the arbitrator found no such "just cause" to terminate existed) the arbitrator would necessarily have had to have had to have had to have considered "whether the Department applied its rules 'evenhandedly and without discrimination to all employees.' Ex 31 at 16" Piel Slip. Op. at 26. Further, reasoning that since Piel mentioned wrongful discharge in his brief, and Piel mentioned it briefly in the hearing, "The arbitrator considered the Department's alleged anti-union animus when he determined whether just cause existed to terminate Piel." Piel Slip. Op. at 27.

The Court of Appeal's reasoning – that because an argument was raised briefly by a party, it must have been decided, even where, as here, the eventual decision by the arbitrator was a split one, decided unfavorably against the party arguing it was decided, and not mentioned or discussed in the decision - adopted collateral estopple where ultimate

facts are not at issue. This directly conflicts with *Kawachi*, 91 Wn.2d at 228, and *Beagles*, 25 Wn. App. at 931, which require that the issue decided be an "ultimate fact" not (as here) an "evidentiary fact" raised by a party, but (as here) not discussed in the decision upon which collateral estopple is based. The court of appeals' ruling also expanded collateral estopple into situations where it is not shown that "a question of fact essential to the judgment [was] actually litigated and determined by a valid and final judgment" as required by *Kawachi*, 91 Wn.2d at 228. Directly contrary to these decisions, the Court of Appeal's holding and reasoning, if not corrected, will provide persuasive authority that collateral estopple can be applied to arguments and evidentiary facts that are not addressed by a decision, but were argued, even briefly, by a party.

While the City asserted that this Court's decision in *Piel 1* determined the preclusive effect of the arbitration hearing, it did not. This Court merely noted the *possibility* of collateral estoppel, while maintaining that in the particular context of PERC, *Smith* and later cases recognize that the limited statutory remedies under chapter 41.56 RCW do not foreclose more complete tort remedies for wrongful discharge." 177 Wn.2d 604, 616 (2013). The trial court erred, and the decision and reasoning of the court of appeals upholding that decision, is in conflict with decisions of this Court.

B. This Court Should Accept Review To Address The Court Of Appeals Decision That Evidence Can Be Excluded Because It "Involves Different Investigators And Decision Makers."

As discussed above, the trial court and the court of appeals entirely ignored the testimony of the City's witnesses that a constant policy and set of standards related to both "dishonesty" and "work place violence" existed. Each of the examples of different treatment Piel sought to introduce were decided under the same constant set of standards. Under any reasonable view of the evidence, it would have entirely undercut the City's *express* claims (1) that it had treated Piel similarly to others, and (2) as it told the Jury, it had searched its records and found no inconstant punishments.

The courts of this State have long recognized that in retaliatory and wrongful termination cases, the *employer's* different or inconsistent treatment of other employees is highly probative and admissible to show the alleged reasons for the termination were pretext. *Fulton v. State*, 169 Wn.App. 137, 161-62, 279 P.3d 500, 513 (2012); see e.g. *Sellsted v. Washington Mut. Sav. Bank*, 69 Wn.App. 852, 860-61, 851 P.2d 716 (1993)("direct ("smoking gun") evidence is not required" and "the reasons given by the employer for discharging the employee are unworthy of belief or that they are a mere pretext" which can be shown with evidence that similarly situation individuals were treated

differently).

This is a suit against the City, not Chief Wilson. Prior decision of this State's Courts have properly focused on the *employers*' actions and policies. E.g. *Fulton*, 169 Wn.App. at 161-62 ("plaintiff must show that the defendant's articulated reasons...were not motivating factors in employment decisions for other employees in the same circumstances."); *Roberts v. Atlantic Richfield, Co.*, 88 Wn.2d 887, 893 568 P.2d 764 (1977)(focusing on company-wide policy and "whether types of employment, conditions of discharge, or ages of the employees were remotely similar to the facts of the case at bar").

Contrary to the court of appeals' suggestion, Piel Slip Op. at 19, whether the prior decisions were made by the *same* decision maker has not factored into any prior cases holding, let along been grounds to exclude evidence under a consistent policy, but different investigators or decision makers.

The writing judge cited two opinions as supporting her opinion. Neither do. First, *Sellsted*, 69 Wn.App. at 861's holding was not based upon it being the same decision maker. The case says no such thing; it happened to be the facts of the case (both the hiring and firing were by the same boss) but it was not the basis of the Court's decision nor discussed in the Court's reasoning. Nor does *Lords v. N. Auto Corp.*, 75

Wn. App. 589, 610, 881 P.2d 256 (1994) support the holding in this case. Lords upheld a plaintiff verdict for discrimination. 75 Wn.App. at 611. After upholding the verdict, the *Lords* court addressed a cross-appeal issue where plaintiff argued that he should have been allowed to introduce evidence of "other discriminatory acts." Id. at 610. Having already upheld the verdict, the court's further discussion was clearly dicta. In any event, the court did not reach the holding the court of appeals now claims, instead it found no abuse of discretion where: "the trial court excluded Mr. Hibbs' testimony primarily because he was an assistant manager and the issue was whether Northern discriminated in its selection of managers, not assistant managers." Id. That the Lord's court noting the facts cited by the party opposing admission "He did not hold the same position [as Plaintiff] and his performance was evaluated by Lords, not Streeter" Piel Slip. Op. at 18, does not create a rule of law. Nor does Lords anywhere say that a different decision maker, by itself, requires exclusion.

In fact, directly contrary to the appellate court's finding that a different decision maker precluded admission, the Court in *Kuyper*, 79 Wn.App. at 738 *rejected* the argument that the *who* the decision maker was altered the analysis, holding that, "while this may be a factual question, it is not a material one. It does not matter who made the

decision." Id. (Emphasis added).

The City here had an obligation to see that its common policies are fairly implemented, regardless of who was making the decision. The court of appeals' decision shifted this focus, finding that although arising under a common policy and set of standards, evidence is excludable by a trial court if it "involved different investigators and decision makers." Piel Slip. Op. at 19. The court of appeals' ruling, in effect, bestows complete discretion on to any decision maker, and would, as in this case, create a non-reviewable way to ignore prior inconsistent implementation, providing that the decision maker had not made any prior decisions.

As a matter of policy, the court of appeals' decision, barring review under RAP 13.4(d) will undercut this State's public policy. In discrimination cases evidence of disparate or different treatment is routinely and oftentimes primarily relied upon because, as numerous decisions have said, bias and prejudice is usually hidden, and must be shown via indirect evidence. (Fulton v. State, (supra); (Sellsted v. Washington Mut. Sav. Bank, (supra)). This vindicates important public policy interests, interests found by this Court to apply in this case. Were the rule as the court of appeals found (i.e., that a different decision maker, applying the same policy or rule, cuts off evidence of prior inconsistent decisions), there would be no way to prove discrimination in

many cases. As here, if the City wanted to unlawfully fire someone, they could simply have the firing done by someone (as was the case with Chief Wilson) who was newly on the job and who had never fired anyone before. This is not the law.

C. The Court should review the polygraph rulings to prevent conflict with <u>Subia</u>.

Piel repeatedly cited the case of Subia v. Riveland, 104
Wn.App. 105 (Div. II 2001) to the trial and appellate courts below.
Subia reversed a judgement due to the exclusion of polygraph results in an employment case. As the trial court admitted, the case was nearly "on all fours" RPv1:92. Piel made clear that, consistent with Subia, he was not seeking to admit the polygraph for the truth of the matter (i.e., if statements were actually made by him) but rather Piel's state of mind, the failure to follow prior procedure, to challenge Chief Wilson's story as to the reasons why the polygraph was not considered, why Cmdr. Arbuthnot removed from the investigation (to show the ground were pretextual) and to call Chief Wilson's basic veracity in question. Piel made clear he would accept an appropriate limiting instruction as in Subia. RPv1:95-6.

In Subia, "the trial court excluded evidence of Tsim's polygraph examination because of a concern that the jury might use it to conclude that Subia had engaged in a sexual relationship with Tsim. This, the

trial court ruled, amounted to prejudice "tremendously outweigh[ing]" any probative value." 104 Wn.App. at 113. The *Subia* court rejected this ER403 argument, noting that if the "polygraph was such a powerful piece of evidence that it was likely to convince the jury that Subia had engaged in sexual conduct with Tsim, then it was at least as likely to have convinced DOC's Superintendent Payne that Tsim's allegations might have been true and required investigation." *Id.* The *Subia* court noted that "the central issue at trial was not whether Subia had committed sexual misconduct with an inmate. Rather, the issue was whether DOC engaged in disparate treatment and had a racially discriminatory purpose." *Id.*

The Court therefore concluded that: "Tsim's having passed the polygraph was highly probative, especially because her credibility was critical" *Id.* It therefore held: "Tsim's polygraph was relevant and admissible to prove DOC's "state of mind" and "was highly relevant to the question of whether DOC's stated nondiscriminatory reason for sending Subia home was false," *Id. Subia* finally rejected the application of an ER403 analysis, *given the ability to use a limiting instruction*, holding that:

When the trial court excluded this evidence to prevent unfair prejudice to Subia's case, it unintentially prejudiced DOC's case by withholding a critical piece of evidence. ... DOC is entitled to a new trial with Tsim's polygraph for this limited

purpose.

Id. (underling added). As this Court has said, in a holding cited to the trial and appellate courts by Piel: "the ability of the danger of unfair prejudice to substantially outweigh the probative force of evidence is 'quite slim' where the evidence is undeniably probative of a central issue in the case." Carson v. Fine, 123 Wn.2d 206, 224, 867 P.2d 610 (1994). ²

The trial court failed to follow *Subia* because it claimed: "unlike *Subia v. Riveland*, 104 Wn.App. 105, 15 P.3d 658 (2001) cited by Plaintiffs, it is the Plaintiffs in this case who want to introduce evidence relating to taking the Polygraph test." CP609. The court of appeals ignored this written ruling, and addressed the admission of a polygraph on the basis of ER403. In doing so, the Court of Appeals created manifest conflict with *Subia*.

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