RECEIVED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON CLERK'S OFFICE

Jul 15, 2016, 3:29 pm

RECEIVED ELECTRONICALLY

SUPREME COURT NO. 93261-1

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

ROBERT PIEL & JACQUELINE PIEL, husband and wife,

Petitioners,

 ν .

THE CITY OF FEDERAL WAY, a Municipality organized pursuant to the laws of the State of Washington,

Respondent.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Shannon E. Phillips SUMMIT LAW GROUP PLLC 315 Fifth Avenue South, Suite 1000 Seattle, Washington 98104-2682 (206) 676-7000

Attorneys for Respondent

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

When ruling on a summary judgment motion, the burden is on the moving party to demonstrate there is no dispute as to any material fact and "reasonable inferences from the evidence must be resolved against the moving party." *Folsom v. Burger King,* 135 Wn.2d 658, 663, 958 P.2d 301 (1998). Critical to the Piels' argument is the contention that "nothing in the arbitrator's award provided any guidance as to what extent, if any, the issue of 'anti-union animus' was even considered, let alone whether it played any part in the outcome of the award." The Piels thus argue the Court of Appeals should have found that the issue of whether anti-union animus motivated the decision was *not* decided by the arbitrator. Pet. at 6-7. On the contrary, the record established that this question was squarely before the arbitrator. Based on the standards articulated by the arbitrator for determining whether "just cause" supported the decision, the only reasonable inference is that the arbitrator rejected the anti-union animus theory that was the cornerstone of the union's argument.

The Court of Appeals held that because the arbitrator necessarily decided the issue of anti-union retaliation, the trial court's decision that the Piels were collaterally estopped from litigating that issue again was correct. Unpub. Op. at 25-27. This decision is consistent with the decisions of this Court and other divisions of the Court of Appeals on collateral estoppel.

Collateral estoppel bars re-litigation of an issue in a subsequent proceeding involving the same parties. *Christensen v. Grant Cty. Hosp. Dist. No. 1*, 152 Wn.2d 299, 306, 96 P.3d 957, 960-61 (2004) (citing 14A Karl B. Tegland, Washington Practice, *Civil Procedure* § 35.32, at 475 (1st ed. 2003)). The doctrine promotes judicial economy and serves to prevent inconvenience or harassment of parties. *Id.* (citing *Reninger v. Dep't of Corr.*, 134 Wn.2d 437, 449, 951 P.2d 782 (1998)).

Collateral estoppel may be applied to preclude only those issues that have actually been litigated and necessarily and finally determined in the earlier proceeding. *Shoemaker v. City of Bremerton*, 109 Wn.2d 504, 507, 745 P.2d 858 (1987). Further, the party against whom the doctrine is asserted must have had a full and fair *opportunity* to litigate the issue in the earlier proceeding. *Nielson v. Spanaway Gen. Med. Clinic, Inc.*, 135 Wn.2d 255, 264–65, 956 P.2d 312 (1998). As the Court of Appeals correctly set forth, for collateral estoppel to apply, the party seeking application of the doctrine must establish that (1) the issue decided in the earlier proceeding was identical to the issue presented in the later proceeding, (2) the earlier proceeding ended in a judgment on the merits,

(3) the party against whom collateral estoppel is asserted was a party to, or in privity with a party to, the earlier proceeding, and (4) application of collateral estoppel does not work an injustice on the party against whom it is applied. Unpub. Op. at 25 (citing *Pederson v. Potter*, 103 Wn. App. 62, 69, 813 P.2d 171 (1991)); accord Reninger, 134 Wn.2d at 449, 951 P.2d 782; State v. Williams, 132 Wn.2d 248, 254, 937 P.2d 1052 (1997).

The Piels argue that the Court of Appeals' conclusion that the issue decided by the arbitrator was identical to the issue presented in this proceeding (*i.e.*, whether anti-union animus motivated the discharge decision) is contrary to decisions of this Court and other Divisions of the Court of Appeals. Division Two of the Court of Appeals noted that

[c]ollateral estoppel... is confined to ultimate facts – facts directly at issue in the first controversy on which the claim rests – but does not extend to evidentiary facts, facts which may be in controversy in the first action and are proven but which are merely collateral to the claim asserted.

Beagles v. Seattle-First National Bank, 25 Wn. App. 925, 931, 610 P.2d 962 (1980) (citing Seattle-First Nat'l Bank v. Kawachi, 91 Wn.2d 223, 229, 588 P.2d 725 (1978)). In other words, a court should look to whether the prior action required a resolution of the issue. *Id.* at 931-932; see also Williams, 132 Wn.2d at 256 ("The Court of Appeals correctly rejected this argument after determining that 'both proceedings required resolution of whether Williams acted intentionally."") (citation omitted). As Division Three of the Court of Appeals observed: "If the issue was essential to the first judgment, it most likely received the attention of the parties and the

court. This justifies giving it preclusive effect." *State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co. v. Avery*, 114 Wn. App. 299, 305, 114 Wn. App. 299 (2002) (applying collateral estoppel where the opponent "does not offer any suggestion as to how the court could have avoided considering [the issue]").

Consistent with these standards, the Court of Appeals found that the arbitrator did decide the issue of whether anti-union retaliation motivated the 2006 discharge decision, as the arbitrator concluded that there was just cause for the discipline, and "[a] finding that Piel's termination was motivated by anti-union animus precluded a finding of just cause." Unpub. Op. at 27. In other words, because the just-cause standard required finding no discrimination, and Piel argued that the decision was motivated by anti-union animus, the just-cause conclusion necessarily required resolution of the issue of anti-union animus. Collateral estoppel was thus properly applied to exclude re-litigation of that issue in this case. *See, e.g., Williams,* 132 Wn.2d at 256.

B. The Unpublished Opinion Correctly Held That the Trial Court Did Not Abuse its Discretion by Excluding Dissimilar Evidence of Prior Disciplinary Actions.

The Piels argue that by concluding that the trial court did not abuse its discretion in excluding evidence of prior disciplinary actions, the trial court "created two new evidentiary rules," which they contend conflict with decisions of other Courts of Appeals and impact the public interest.

Pet. at 2. The Piels misstate the Court of Appeals' opinion. A careful

review of the Unpublished Opinion shows that the Court of Appeals applied settled precedent in affirming the court's exclusion of evidence.

As the Court of Appeals correctly noted, evidentiary rulings are only subject to reversal if the court abuses its discretion in that its decision is manifestly unreasonable or based on untenable grounds or reasons.

Unpub. Op. at 7 (*citing Subia v. Riveland*, 104 Wn. App 105, 113-14, 15 P.3d 658 (2001) and *In re Marriage of Littlefield*, 133 Wn.2d 39, 46-47, 940 P.2d 1362 (1997)). Even if a trial court's evidentiary rulings were erroneous, the ruling will not be reversed unless it is prejudicial. *Id.* (citing *Brown v. Spokane Cnty. Fire Prot. Dist. No. 1*, 100 Wn.2d 188, 196, 668 P.2d 571 (1983)).

Applying these well-established standards, the Court of Appeals concluded that "trial court did not abuse its discretion when it excluded evidence of those actions as irrelevant on the grounds the proffered actions are factually dissimilar, too remote in time, and involve different decision makers." Unpub. Op. at 15. Piel ignores the Court's stated rationale, recasting it as a decree that "a different decision maker, by itself, requires exclusion." Pet. at 11. On the contrary, the Court of Appeals observed that "[g]enerally, when a prior employment decision is admitted to show the plaintiff was treated differently than other employees, that prior decision was made by the same decision maker as the one responsible for the action giving rise to the lawsuit." Unpub. Op. at 19 (citing Sellsted v. Washington Mut. Sav. Bank, 69 Wn. App. 852, 861, 851 P.2d 716 (1993); abrogated on other grounds by Mackay v. Acorn Custom Cabinetry, Inc.,

127 Wn.2d 302, 898 P.2d 284 (1995)). The Court of Appeals correctly noted "that the trial court has broad discretion appropriate" to introduce the different or inconsistent treatment of other employees when deciding a wrongful termination case. *Id.* (citing *Lords v. N. Auto. Corp.*, 75 Wn. App. 589, 610, 881 P.2d 256, 268 (1994), as amended on denial of reconsideration (Sept. 1, 1994), overruled on other grounds by Mackay v. Acorn Custom Cabinetry, Inc., 127 Wn.2d 302, 898 P.2d 284 (1995)). The Court of Appeals considered the facts involved in each of the proffered situations and the trial court's reasons for excluding them. Unpub. Op. at 15-17. The Court correctly held that the "trial court did not abuse its discretion when it prohibited Piel from introducing dissimilar evidence of previous disciplinary actions." Unpub. Op. at 19 (citing *Lords*, 75 Wn. App. at 610).

The Piels argue that a trial court has *no discretion* to exclude evidence of alleged disparate treatment, even if it "involved different investigators and decision makers," or was remote in time from the actions involving the plaintiff. *See* Pet. at 12. They cite no opinions of this Court or other Courts of Appeals for this proposition. Such a proposition would be wholly inconsistent with the authority cited by the Court of Appeals in the Unpublished Opinion, which recognizes that a trial judge must be afforded "broad discretion" to determine when evidence of alleged different or inconsistent treatment is appropriately admitted. Unpub. Op. at 17-18 (citing *Lords*, 75 Wn. App. at 610); *see also Roberts v. Atl. Richfield Co.*, 88 Wn.2d 887, 893, 568 P.2d 764, 768 (1977) (factors

appropriately considered by trial court in exercising that discretion include "whether the testimony would have a tendency to mislead, distract, waste time, confuse or impede the trial, or be too remote either as to issues or in point of time"). The conclusion that the trial court did not abuse its discretion in excluding evidence that it considered too dissimilar and remote in time is consistent with applicable authority, and provides no grounds for discretionary review. There is no public policy impact, as the Unpublished Opinion affirms that "an employer's different or inconsistent treatment of other employees may be relevant and admissible in a wrongful termination case under appropriate circumstances." Unpub. Op. at 17-18 (citing Fulton v. Dep't of Soc. & Health Servs., 169 Wn. App. 137, 161-62, 279 P.3d 500 (2012)).

- C. The Court of Appeals' Decision Regarding the Admissibility of Polygraph Evidence Was Consistent with Opinions of this Court and Other Courts of Appeals Regarding the Application of ER 403.
 - 1. The Court of Appeals followed standards established by this Court in evaluating evidence under ER 403.

The Piels suggest that the Court of Appeals Decision is contrary to the standards governing ER 403 as set forth by this Court. Pet. at 18. On the contrary, the Court of Appeals properly applied the standards set forth in *Carson v. Fine*, 123 Wn.2d 206, 867 P.2d 610 (1994).

In *Carson*, this Court described the how courts should apply ER 403 as follows: "Under ER 403, the relevance of the evidence sought to be admitted is assumed. The only question is whether its probative value

is outweighed by its prejudicial effect." *Id.* at 222. *Accord, In re Det. of Halgren,* 156 Wn.2d 795, 802, 132 P.3d 714, 717 (2006). This Court looked to federal case law for guidance regarding what constitutes inadmissible "unfair prejudice," noting that one court defined it as "prejudice caused by evidence of 'scant or cumulative probative force, dragged in by the heels for the sake of its prejudicial effect.' "*Carson,* 123 Wn.2d at 223 (citations omitted). Such *unfair* prejudice is distinguishable from "prejudicial evidence" generally, as "nearly all evidence will prejudice one side or the other in a lawsuit." *Id.* at 224.

The evidence in *Carson* was the testimony of a physician that the defendant's treatment was within the standard of care. *Id.* The Court evaluated the strength of the probative value, concluding that the testimony "was undeniably probative of the central issue: whether the defendant's care of the plaintiff fell below the applicable standard of care." *Id.* Accordingly, the Court observed, "We do not see this as evidence 'dragged in' for the sake of its prejudicial effect" *Id.*

In contrast, the Court of Appeals recognized that the polygraph evidence offered by the Piels was of scant probative value at best. First, the evidence did not meet minimum standards of admissibility because the Piels failed to designate an expert to lay the foundation for the testing circumstances and results, and because the probative value of polygraph testing is inherently suspect given the lack of scientific consensus as to its validity. Unpub. Op. at 7-8.

The Court of Appeals then addressed the Piels' assertion that they were not offering the polygraph evidence to prove that Piel was truthful; rather, they were offering it (1) as evidence of Piel's state of mind; and (2) to prove that the City's assertion that it switched investigators because it was not allowed by a labor agreement to consider the results absent a stipulation from the union was pretext, and the real reason was because the first investigator was leaning toward clearing Piel of some charges against him. The Court of Appeals concluded the evidence was of little probative value. First, in a wrongful discharge case, it is the employer's state of mind that is relevant. Id. at 9-10; cf., Hill v. BCTI Income Fund-I, 144 Wn.2d 172, 190 n.14, 23 P.3d 440 (2001) ("It is not unlawful for an atwill employee to be discharged because he or she is perceived to have misbehaved.") (citations omitted; emphasis in original). The Court of Appeals further concluded that the polygraph evidence was of little value in establishing pretext, as the Piels failed to present any evidence of a stipulation that would allow consideration of the evidence, as required by the labor agreement. Unpub. Op. at 10-11 (Ex. 4 at 2). See also CP 1322-23. Contrary to the Piels' argument that the failure by the City to consider his polygraph results was inconsistent with past practice, the union had consistently refused to allow the use of a polygraph. See CP 1898-1901. In sum, the Court of Appeals concluded that the evidence was "of limited probative value," and not central to Piel's claims of anti-union bias. Unpub. Op. at 12.

The Court of Appeals then considered the possibility of unfair prejudice, noting that "[g]enerally, courts exclude polygraph evidence due to its unreliability and the powerful effect it can have on juries." Unpub. Op. at 8 (citing *State v. Justesen*, 121 Wn. App. 83, 86, 86 P.3d 1259 (2004)). The Court of Appeals concluded: "Given the polygraph evidence's limited probative value and its potential for prejudice, the trial court did not abuse its discretion when it excluded the evidence." Unpub. Op. at 12. In other words, this is the type of evidence this Court has recognized as inadmissible under ER 403: "evidence of 'scant or cumulative probative force, dragged in by the heels for the sake of its prejudicial effect.' " *Carson*, 123 Wn.2d at 223-24.

This Court's evaluation of the exclusion of polygraph evidence in *Industrial Indemnity Company of the Northwest v. Kallevig*, 114 Wn.2d 907, 792 P.2d 520 (1990), supports the ER 403 balancing in this case. In *Kallevig*, this Court affirmed the Court of Appeals' exclusion of evidence that the insured refused to submit to a polygraph examination, when the evidence was offered by the insurer to demonstrate a good-faith basis for denying the claim, explaining:

While the polygraph information may have been probative of [Industrial Indemnity's] state of mind in denying the Kallevigs' claim, the risk of the jury considering it as evidence that Mr. Kallevig committed arson was so great that the trial court properly excluded it....

Id. at 925-26 (citation omitted). The balancing test weighs even more heavily against admissibility in this case, as it was not even considered by

Commander McAllister, who recommended Piel' discharge, or Chief Brian Wilson, who made the final decision. *See* RP Vol. 7, 139:17-140:9; Exs. 7, 9, 12; CP 1322-23. As the Court of Appeals' decision in this case was consistent with this Court's opinions regarding the ER 403 balancing test, RAP 13.4(b)(1) is not satisfied.

2. The decision that the polygraph evidence was inadmissible does not conflict with *Subia*.

The Unpublished Opinion does not conflict with the published opinion of Division Two of the Court of Appeals in *Subia v. Riveland*, 104 Wn. App. 105, 15 P.3d 658 (2001). The Piels' argument relies on a misstatement of the holding and reasoning in *Subia*, as well as an inaccurate description of the Court of Appeals' decision in this case.

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